I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Pamela B. 

Loginsky, Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Okanogan County, asks 

this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating 

review designated in part B of this petition. 

· II. RELIEF REQUESTED 

The State seeks review of Division Three's decision in State of 

Washington v. Eric Daniel Cruz, COA No. 33312-4-ill. This published 

opinion affirmed the superior court's decision suppressing firearms removed 

from the defendant's vehicle pursuant to State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 

P.2d445 (1986). The published opinion wasissuedonJuly 19,2016. A copy 

of the opinion appears in appendix A. The State's timely filed motion for 

reconsideration was denied on September 22, 2016. A copy of the order 

denying reconsideration appears in appendix B. An extension of time to file 

this petition was granted by this Court on October 19,2016. A copy ofthe 

ruling granting the extension of time appears in appendix C. 

ID. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether an armed, lawfully detained individual, presents a 

potential threat to an officer's safety sufficient to justify a Terri frisk? 

2. Whether unsecured firearms in a vehicle that the driver or 

passengers will be allowed to return to at the conclusion of a lawful 

detention, presents a potential threat to an officer's safety sufficient to justify 

a Terry frisk? 

1Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). 
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3. Whether reasonable suspicions standard under Terry remains an 

objective one that is based upon the totality of the circumstances rather then 

a subjective test that looks to the officer's level of fear? 

4. Whether the test for a Terry frisk of a lawfully detained person is 

the same for an armed "recreational sportsman" as for any other armed 

person? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On August 10,2012, Fish and Wildlife OfficerTroyMcCormickwas 

patrolling the Sirnikameen River in Okanogan County. RP 7. This relatively 

isolated area of the County is characterized by high canyon walls which 

impact radio traffic, making it difficult for a lone officer, such as Officer 

McCormick, to obtain record checks and/or to secure backup. CP 9, FOF 1 

and 5; RP 7-8, 13. 

Officer McCormick hiked to the top of a cliff overlooking the 

Similkameen River. From this vantage point, he observed Eric Cruz, use an 

illegal fishing lure to "snag" a fish in violation of the law.2 RP 8-9. Officer 

McCormick also noted that Cruz was accompanied by another fisherman. RP 

7. Officer McCormick raced to his truck and drove to the area where Cruz 

could be contacted. RP 9; CP 10, FOF 4. 

When Officer McComiick arrived at the parking lot it was empty 

except for Cruz's vehicle. RP 9, 15-16. Cruz was in the open door of his 

pickup truck, scrambling to record his catch.3 CP 10, FOF 6. Officer 

2RCW 77.15.370(l)(c). A violation of this statute is a gross misdemeanor that may 
impact the defendant's ability to obtain a fishing license. See RCW 77.15.370(2) and (3). 

3Cruz's failure to complete the catch record at the water's edge was a separate infraction. 
See RCW 77.15.160(l)(c). 
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McCormick contacted Cruz and asked to see Cruz's fish. Cruz opened the 

cooler in the bed of his pickup, allowing Officer McCormick to examine the 

fish's condition. RP 18-19; CP 10, FOF 7. His examination confirmed his 

suspicion that Cruz had unlawfully snagged the fish. RP 20; CP 10, FOF 8. 

Officer McCormick informed Cruz that he was under arrest for 

snagging. RP 1 0; CP 10, FOF 8. Officer McCormick placed Cruz in 

handcuffs and searched Cruz incident to arrest. RP 10,20-21. Immediately 

prior to the search incident to arrest, Officer McCormick inquired whether 

Cruz was armed. Cruz stated that he was not, but that he had some guns in 

the truck. RP 10-11; CP 10, FOF 12. Upon completing the search incident 

to arrest, Officer McCormick secured Cruz in the back of his patrol car. RP 

12, 21; CP 10, FOF 16. 

Officer McCormick returned to the pick up truck to secure the 

firearms due to the potential threat they posed to his safety. RP 12. Officer 

McCormick took this step because the location of Cruz's companion was not 

known to him and because he anticipated releasing Cruz at the scene. RP 

9-1 0; CP 11, FOF 21. While the weapons were still in Cruz's vehicle, Cruz's 

companion approached the vehicle. RP 12, 24-25. Officer McCormick 

ordered the companion to stop, and the companion halted approximately 15 

to 20 feet from the vehicle. RP 12, 25, 26, and 28; CP 10, FOF 9. 

Officer McCormick removed two rifles from the back seat of Cruz's 

vehicle and a handgun that was adjacent to the driver's seat. RP 12. Officer 

McCormick removed the weapons solely to protect his safety and not for 

investigative purposes. CP 11, FOF 22 and 23. Officer McCormick secured 
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the weapons in his patrol car, intending to unload them prior to returning the 

weapons at the conclusion of the encounter. RP 12-13, 23-24, 26; CP 11, 

FOF 19. 

Officer McCormick then resumed his investigation of the crime of 

snagging, reading Cruz his Miranda4 warnings and asking Cruz questions. 

RP 14-15, 22. While engaged in this investigation, Officer McCormick 

received word over his radio that Cruz had a prior felony conviction and was 

ineligible to possess firearms. CP 11, FOF 19. Officer McCormick informed 

Cruz that the firearms would be placed into evidence and that a report would 

be forwarded to the prosecutor. RP 13-14. 

With the firearms secured, Officer McCormick believed that Cruz 

posed no danger to anyone. RP 23-24. Officer McCormick, therefore, 

released Cruz at the scene with a citation for the fishing violation. RP 24-25; 

CP 11, FOF 20. 

The State charged Cruz with three counts of unlawful possession of 

a firearm in the second degree on December 15,2014. CP 53. Cruz filed a 

motion to suppress the firearms, arguing that the warrantless seizure of the 

firearms violated Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 

2d 485 (2009). CP 42. The State argued that the warrantless seizure of the 

firearms was lawful under Michiganv. Long,463 U.S.1032, 103 S. Ct. 3469, 

77 L. Ed. 2d 1201 (1983). CP 24. 

4Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694, 10 A.L.R.3d 974 
(1965). 

4 



The trial court granted Cruz's motion to suppress, ruling the sweep 

of the vehicle to secure the weapons was improper because "[t]here is a 

burden on the State to show a dangerous situation." CP 11 at COL 2A. The 

State filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 1. Division Three affirmed the trial 

court, holding that Terry does not allow an officer to secure weapons being 

transported by cooperative "sportsmen". State v. Cruz, 195 Wn. App. 120, 

125, _ P.3d _ (2016). The State files this timely petition for review. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

RAP 13.4 discusses the considerations governing this Court's 

acceptance of review. Here, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) 

because Division Three's decision increases the risk of injuries and fatalities 

during lawful, non-consensual, police encounters. Review is also appropriate 

under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2) because the opinion conflicts with many 

decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals. Finally, review should 

be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because Division Three's standardless 

"sportsmen" exception to Terry presents a significant question of law under 

the Fourth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 7. 

A. A Lawfully Detained Armed Person is Presumed to 
Present a Sufficient Risk to the Officer's Safety to 
Support a Frisk to Secure the Weapons Until the 
Investigation is Completed. 

Pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 

889 (1968), police officers may make limited searches for the purposes of 

protecting the officers' safety during an investigative detention. A lawful 

frisk does not always flow from a justified stop. Rather, each element of the 

stop and the frisk must be analyzed separately; the reasonableness of each 
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must be independently determined. Terry, 392 U.S. at 22-23; Thomas v. 

Dillard, 818 F.3d 864, 876 (9th Cir. 2016). 

"The purpose of Terry frisks is to protect officer and bystander 

safety." State v. Russell, 180 Wn.2d 860, 869,330 P.3d 151 (2014). A 

limited warrantless Terry pat-down search is conducted not to discover 

evidence of a crime, but to allow an officer to safely pursue a Terry 

investigation. Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 146,92 S. Ct. 1921, 32 L. 

Ed. 2d 612 (1972). 

In addition to a pat-down for weapons, the Terry doctrine allows an 

officer to sweep the interior of a suspect's vehicle for weapons. See, e.g., 

Michigan v. Long, supra;5 State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 P .2d 445 

(1986); State v. Larson, 88 Wn. App. 849, 946 P.2d 1212 (1997). A Terry 

sweep of a vehicle for weapons is proper when an officer intends to allow the 

detained person and/or the detained person's companions to return to the 

vehicle following the contact. See Gant, 556 U.S. at 352 (Scalia, J., 

concurring) ("In the no-arrest case, the possibility of access to weapons in the 

vehicle always exists, since the driver or passenger will be allowed to return 

to the vehicle when the interrogation is completed."). Accord State v. Chang, 

147 Wn. App. 490, 496, 195 P.3d 1008 (2008) (officer may still search the 

5The Terry sweep exception to the warrant requirement that was recognized in Michigan 
v. Long, survived the United State's Supreme Court's opinion in Arizona v. Grant, 556 U.S. 
332, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009). See Gant, 129 S. Ct at 1721 (listing 
Michiganv. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 103 S. Ct. 3469,77 L. Ed. 2d 1201 (1983), which :permits 
an officer to search a vehicle's passenger compartment when he has reasonable suspic10n that 
an individual, whether or not the arrestee, is "dangerous" and might access the vehicle to 
"gain immediate control of weapons," as an established exceptions to the warrant 
requirement that authorizes an officer to enter a vehicle); United States v. Goodwin-Bey, 5 84 
F.3d 1117, 1120 (8th Cir. 2009) ("In reexamining the search incident to arrest exception to 
the warrant requirement, Gant left [the Michigan v. Long] exception untouched."), cert. 
denied, 559 U.S. 961 (2010). 
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compartment when both occupants of the vehicle are outside the car and do 

not have access to the passenger compartment so long as the officer intends 

to return them to the car following the stop.). 

An officer need not be absolutely certain that the detained person the 

officer is investigating at close range is armed or dangerous; the issue is 

whether a reasonably prudent person in the same circumstances would be 

warranted in the belief that his or her safety was in danger. Terry, 88 S. Cl 

at 1883; State v. Harvey, 41 Wn. App. 870, 874-75, 707 P.2d 146 (1985). 

The same standard applies to a Terry sweep of a vehicle. See generally 

Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 11-13. Appellate review of an officer's frisk decision 

is circumspect as 

courts are reluctant to substitute their judgment for that of 
police officers in the field. "A founded suspicion is all that is 
necessary, some basis from which the court can determine 
that the [frisk] was not arbitrary or harassing." 

State v. Collins, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993) (alterations in 

original) (emphasis and internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. 

Belieu, 112 Wn.2d 587, 601-02, 773 P.2d 46 (1989)). 

During non-consensual contacts, such as traffic stops, this Court has 

stated that a frisk is proper upon objective suspicions that the suspect or other 

occupants of the vehicle could be "armed or dangerous." See State v. 

Horrace, 144 Wn.2d 386, 395, 28 P.3d 753 (2001) (describing the Terry 

standard as "'the objective suspicions that the person searched may be armed 

or dangerous."'); State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 502, 987 P.2d 73 (1999) 

(frisk "must be supported by objective suspicions that the person searched 

may be armed or dangerous."). 
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Applying this test, Washington cases have upheld frisks or sweeps 

where the officer has reasonable suspicion that the detainee is armed. See, 

e.g., State v. Flores, No. 91986-1, slip op. at 22, _ Wn.2d _, _ P.3d 

_ (Sep. 15, 2016) (officer lawfully seized gun from an arrestee's 

companion who, while walking backwards towards an officer with his arms 

up, volunteered that he had a gun); Russell, 180 Wn.2d at 868-69 (frisk of 

suspect, who was stopped for violating several minor traffic laws, was 

justified by the fact .that the officer found a small derringer-style gun in the 

suspect's possession one week earlier); Collins, 121 Wn.2d at 176-77 

(reliable informant's tip that an individual carries a gun can support a 

protective frisk following a lawful traffic stop); State v. Holbrook, 33 Wn. 

App. 692, 657 P.2d 797, review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1023 (1983) (frisk of 

driver, who was stopped for a broken taillight and an expired license plate, 

and sweep of vehicle for weapons was proper where tip sheet indicated that 

the driver possesses multiple guns and carries a loaded automatic under the 

left side ofhis dashboard); State v. Olsson, 78 Wn. App. 202, 895 P.2d 867 

(1995) (frisk of driver, who was stopped for excessively loud noise, was 

justified by the suspect's statement that he had a knife). These Washington 

cases equate the reasonable suspicion that the detainee is armed with 

reasonable suspicion that the person may be potentially dangerous. 

The "armed is potentially dangerous" standard applied by both this 

Court and the Court of Appeals is consistent with decisions from the United 

States Supreme Court, the Ninth Circuit, and our sister states. See, e.g., 

Ybarra v. fllinois, 444 U.S. 85, 93, 100 S. Ct. 338, 62 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1979) 
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(under Terry "a law enforcement officer, for his own protection and safety, 

may conduct a patdown to find weapons that he reasonably believes or 

suspects are then in the possession of the person he has accosted"); 

Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 112, 98 S. Ct. 330, 54 L. Ed. 2d 331 

(1977) (friskjustified where "[t]he bulge in the jacket permitted the officer 

to conclude that Mimms was armed and thus posed a serious and present 

danger to the safety of the officer," and stating that "[i]n these circumstances, 

any man of 'reasonable caution' would likely have conducted the 'pat 

down'"); Terry, 392 U.S. at 28 (in approving Officer McFadden's frisk, the 

Court noted that "a reasonably prudent man would have been warranted in 

believing petitioner was armed and thus presented a threat to the officer's 

safety"); United States v. Orman, 486 F.3d 1170, 1176 (9th Cir. 2007) (an 

officer's reasonable suspicion that a suspect is carrying a gun "is all that is 

required for a protective search under Terry"), cert. denied, 552 U.S. 1313 

(2008); Gastelum v. Hegyi, 237 Ariz. 211, 348 P.3d 907, 910 (Ariz. App.), 

review denied, 2015 Ariz. Lex.is 3 58 (20 15) (when the encounter between the 

police officer and an individual is not based on consent, a Terry frisk may be 

conducted without specifically assessing the likelihood that the armed 

individual is presently dangerous). 

The "armed is potentially dangerous" standard is consistent with the 

Supreme Court's recognition that a person armed with a weapon could 

unexpectedly and fatally use that weapon against an officer. Terry, 392 U.S. 

at 23. The Ninth Circuit has also observed, "The possibility of a surprise 

attack at close quarters with even a small knife presents danger sufficient to 
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justify an officer in taking reasonable protective measures .... " United 

States v. Mattarolo, 209 F.3d 1153, 1158 (9th Cir. 2000). 

The "armed is potentially dangerous" standard is consistent with 

courts' recognition that "a police officer is not required to 'await the glint of 

steel' before he or she can act to preserve his or her own safety because once 

the glint of steel appears, it is 'often ... too late' to take safety precautions." J. 

Michael McGuinness, Law Enforcement Use of Force: Safe and Effective 

Policing Requires Retention of the Reasonable Belie/Standard, 39 Champion 

26, 31 (2015) (internal citations omitted). Scientific studies support the 

conclusion that an officer may not safely wait to take defense actions until a 

detainee demonstrates an intent to assault the officer. See, e.g., Raymond P. 

Rheingans, Violator Movement Times vs. Officer Response Times in Armed 

Encounters, PPCT Res. Rev. June 998, at 2 (describing reaction-time 

experiments that show that an "officer who is unaware of a subject's weapon 

could be behind by . 79 seconds or more if the subject suddenly drew his 

weapon); Seth D. DuCharme, The Search for Reasonableness in Use-of

Force Cases: Understanding the Effects of Stress on Perception and 

Performance, 70 Fordham L. Rev. 2515, 2547-48 (2002) (an individual 

standing thirty feet away can reach an officer in less than two seconds). 

Here, Officer McCormick had actual notice that firearms were in 

Cruz's vehicle prior to his securing them. The firearms were secured at a 

time when Cruz and/or Cruz's companion could gain access to the firearms 

when they returned to the vehicle at the end of the investigation. Numerous 

other jurisdictions have approved of Terry sweeps of the passenger 

10 



compartment under similar circumstances. See, e.g., Davila v. United States, 

713 F.3d 248, 259 (5th Cir. 2013) (sweep for weapons during a lawful 

investigatory stop is "justified where the officers reasonably believe that 

someone within police custody might gain access to weapons, either during 

the traffic stop or once they are returned to their vehicles"); Commonwealth 

v. Demirtshyan, 87 Mass. App. Ct. 737, 36N.E.3d32, 38 n. 11 (a Terry-type 

"frisk" of the interior of an automobile may be justified by the concern that 

a driver or passenger returning to the vehicle may gain access to a weapon 

that may be used against the police; protective sweep proper where driver sat 

in the back seat of cruiser where driver may return to vehicle), appeal denied, 

· 473 Mass.l102 (2015);Statev. Scheet,2014ND 91, 845N.W.2d 885 (2014) 

(officer safety sweep of vehicle for weapons justified as driver, who made 

furtive motions prior to being placed in the back of a squad car, would most 

likely be released with citations for the minor traffic infractions). 

B. Division Three's Determination that the Securing of the 
Firearms Violated Terry is Based Upon an Erroneous 
Subjective Test. 

The reasonable suspicions standard for a lawful frisk is an objective 

one. Long, 463 U.S. at 1046 n.11 ("The propriety of a Terry stop and frisk 

is to be judged according to whether the officer acted as a 'reasonably prudent 

man' in deciding that the intrusion was justified."); Terry, 392 U.S. 1, 27 

("The officer need not be absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the 

issue is whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be 
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warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was indanger.").6 The 

objective standard means that a frisk can be valid when a officer does not 

actually feel threatened by the person frisked or when the record is silent 

regarding the officer's actual belief. See, e.g., State v. Kyles, 269 Wis. 2d 1, 

675 N.W.2d 449 (2004) (s'urveying state and federal court cases). 

The Fifth Circuit's decision in United States v. Tharpe, 536 F.2d 1098 

(5th Cir. 1976), reversed on other grounds by United States v. Causey, 834 

F.2d 1179 (5th Cir. 1987), explains the reason for this rule as follows: 

We know of no legal requirement that a policeman 
must feel "scared" by the threat of danger. Evidence that the 
officer was aware of sufficient specific facts as would suggest 
he was in danger satisfies the constitutional requirement. 
Terry cannot be read to condemn a pat-down search because 
it was made by an inarticulate policeman whose inartful 
courtroom testimony is embellished with assertions of 
bravado, so long as it is clear that he was aware of specific 
facts which would warrant a reasonable person to believe he 
was in danger. Under the familiar standard of the reasonable 
prudent man, no purpose related to the protective function of 
the Terry rule would be served by insisting on the 
retrospective incantation "I was scared." 

Some foolhardy policemen will never admit fear. 
Conversely, reliance on such a litany is necessarily prone to 
self-serving rationalization by an officer after the fact. It 
would be all too easy for any officer to belatedly recite that he 
was scared in situations where he neither had any reason to be 
scared, nor was indeed scared. The Supreme Court in Terry 
noted that the potential for abuse in relying upon a subjective 
rule cannot be squared with the protection guaranteed the 
individual by the fourth amendment. 

Tharpe, 536 F.2d at 1101. 

~e United States Supreme Court favors objective standard tests out of a belief that 
"[ e ]venhanded law enforcement is best achieved by the application of objective standards of 
conduct, rather than standards that depend upon the subjective state of mind of the officer." 
Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 138, 110 L. Ed. 2d 112, 110 S. Ct. 2301 (1990). 
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The standard of objective reasonableness relies upon the totality of 

circumstances. A host of factors can contribute to a basis for believing a 

suspect may be armed and possibly dangerous. These factors taken together 

may create reasonable suspicion when each factor, taken alone, would be 

insufficient. A reviewing court, therefore, should not fmd reasonable 

suspicion that the suspect was armed or dangerous was lacking '"based 

merely on a 'piecemeal refutation of each individual' fact and inference."' 

United States v. George, 732 F.3d 296, 299-300 (4th Cir. 2013) (quoting 

United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 339 (4th Cir. 2008) (quoting United 

States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988))). 

In the instant case, the trial court ruled that the Terry sweep of the

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