No. 93732-0

COA No. 33312-4-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

VS.

ERIC DANIEL CRUZ,

Respondent.

DEFENDANT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ronald Hammett wsba # 06164 Attorney for Respondent P.O. Box 3940 Omak, Washington 98841 (509) 826-1918

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Dec 07, 2016, 3:01 pm

CLERK'S OFFICE STATE OF WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT RECEIVED

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny the State's Petition for Review. The Court of Appeals applied well established legal precedent to the case. Its decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court nor is it in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals. This case presents neither new questions of Constitutional law nor new questions of public interest which previously have not been well settled by this Court or by the Supreme Court of the United States.

A. Warrantless Searches Require the State to Prove a Well Established Exception to the Warrant Requirement by Clear and Convincing Evidence.

"{S}earches conducted outside the judicial process without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment - subject to a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967). The burden is on the State to prove one of these narrow exceptions. *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). In the present case, the police did not have a search warrant, and the burden is on the state to prove an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn. 2d 242,260, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009).

B. Police Are Not Authorized to Search a Vehicle Incident To a Recent Occupant's Arrest After the Arrestee Has Been Secured and Cannot Access the Interior of the Vehicle.

Among the exceptions to the warrant requirement is a search incident to a lawful arrest. The exception derives from the interests in officer safety and evidence preservation. Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 556 U.S. 1719, 173 L.Ed.2d 485 (2009). The Court in *Gant* said, "if there is no possibility that an arrestee could reach into the area where law enforcement officers seek to search, both justifications for the search-incident -to- arrest exception are absent and the rule does not apply". Gant at 339. The Court held police are authorized to search a vehicle incident to a recent occupant's arrest only when the arrestee is unsecured and within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search. Gant at 343. In Gant, Mr. Gant was under arrest, handcuffed, and locked in the back of a police car at the time the search of his vehicle. The Court said, "Gant clearly was not within reaching distance of his car at the time of the search", and affirmed the suppression of evidence seized from his car. The same situation is present in the case involving the defendant, Mr. Cruz. At the time of the search, he was under arrest, handcuffed, and locked in a police vehicle.

Under both a Fourth Amendment analysis and pursuant to an article I, section 7 independent state constitutional analysis, a warrantless vehicle

search incident to arrest is authorized when the arrestee would be able to obtain a weapon from the vehicle or reach evidence of the crime of arrest to conceal or destroy it. *Gant*, 129 S.Ct. at 1719; *Buelna Valdez*, 167 Wash.2d at 777, 224 P.3d 751. *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177,275 P.3d 289 (2012)

In *Buelna Valdez*, 167 Wash.2d at 777, 224 P.3d 751, this Court expressly held that " after an arrestee is secured and removed from the automobile, he or she poses no risk of obtaining a weapon or concealing or destroying evidence of the crime of arrest located in the automobile, and thus the arrestee's presence does not justify a warrantless search under the search incident to arrest exception." In *Valdez*, Clark County Sheriff's deputies stopped the defendant for a headlight infraction. Upon learning of an outstanding warrant for the defendant, they arrested him, handcuffed him, and placed in the backseat of a patrol vehicle. They asked the passenger to step out of the vehicle. They then searched the vehicle and found illegal drugs. This Court held:

at the time of the search the arrestee was handcuffed and secured in the backseat of a patrol car. The arrestee no longer had access to any portion of the vehicle. The officer's search of his vehicle was therefore unconstitutional under both the Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7.

Buelna Valdez, at 778.

Likewise in State v. Afana, 169 Wn.2d 169, 233 P.3d 879

(2010), this Court held, "the deputy had no authority of law to search Afana's vehicle because it was out of the reach of the arrestee at the time". Afana at 179. In that case, a Spokane County deputy stopped a vehicle at 3:39 a.m. after learning there was an arrest warrant for the passenger. The passenger was taken into custody and the driver, Afana, was asked to step out of the vehicle. The officer searched the vehicle and found drugs which caused the officer to arrest Afana. This Court said the deputy did not have reason to believe that the arrested passenger posed a safety risk since she was already in custody at the time of the search. Afana at 178. Similarly in the present case, the trial court found, "At the time of the search and seizure of guns from the defendant's vehicle, the defendant (Mr. Cruz) was under arrest, handcuffed, and locked inside the officer's patrol vehicle where he could not access his vehicle to gain immediate control of the weapons". (Finding of Fact 16). Under the rules set forth in Gant, Valdez, Snapp, and Afana, the search of the defendant's vehicle violated both the Fourth Amendment and art. 1 section 7.

C. Officers May Only Search the Passenger Compartment of a Vehicle Pursuant an Investigatory Stop When They Have Reasonable Suspicion the Individual is Dangerous and Might Gain Access to the Vehicle to Gain Immediate Control of Weapons.

The state attempts to characterize the arrest of the defendant, Mr. Cruz, as a *Terry* stop. A *Terry* stop is an investigatory stop or a brief seizure by police that falls short of a traditional arrest and is justified by a reasonable suspicion that the individual is engaged in criminal activity. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868. 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). A Terry stop either progresses to probable cause to arrest, or it fails to develop into probable cause and requires the release of the suspect. Under Terry, a police officer who makes an investigatory stop may conduct a limited pat-down, or frisk, limited to a suspect's outer clothing. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1,27,30 (1968). The frisk may only be conducted if the officer possesses a reasonable belief that the detainee poses a threat to the officer's safety or the safety of others. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. at 28. This narrowly drawn authority to such a limited search exists where the officer has reason to believe that he is dealing with an armed and dangerous individual. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. at 27.

The Supreme Court in *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S.1032, 103 S.Ct 3469, 77 L.Ed.2d 1201 (1983) expanded the area for a search incident to

an investigatory stop to the inside of the passenger compartment of a vehicle. Once again, the Court pointed out the officer must believe the person is armed and dangerous. *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S, at 1047. The Court also limited such a search to the situations where a suspect might gain immediate access to a weapon. The Court concluded that a search of the passenger area of a vehicle, "is permissible if the police officer possesses a reasonable belief based on 'specific and articulable facts' which taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the officer in believing the suspect is dangerous and suspect may gain immediate control of weapons". *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S at 1049. The State asserts (State's Petition for Review pg. 13) this standard announced by the United States Supreme Court in *Long*, and found by the trial court to not have been met by the State, is not consistent with *Terry* and *State v. Collins*, 121 Wn.2d 486, 847 P.2d 919 (2001).

The defendant believes it is the correct standard and points out that such language was repeated by the Supreme Court in *Gant*, the Court said, "For instance, *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S. 1032,103 S.Ct 3469, 77 L.Ed.2d 1201 (1983), permits an officer to search a vehicle's passenger compartment when he has reasonable suspicion that an individual, whether or not the arrestee, is 'dangerous' and might access the vehicle to 'gain immediate control of weapons'. *Id.* at 1049".

Here, the trial court specifically found (FF 16), "At the time of the search and seizure of guns from the defendant's vehicle, the defendant was under arrest, handcuffed, and locked inside the officer's patrol vehicle where he could not access this vehicle to gain immediate control of the weapons"

The State failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that at the time of the search that the weapons were within reaching distance or that the defendant, Mr. Cruz, might gain immediate access to them. As this Court said in *Buelna Valdez* at 777, "after an arrestee is secured and removed from the automobile, he or she poses no risk of obtaining a weapon". Likewise, Mr. Cruz, the defendant posed no risk of obtaining weapons since, he too, was secured and removed from the vehicle at the time of the search.

Washington also adopted the expansion of a *Terry* investigation to include the area inside an automobile. *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn. 2d 1, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). In *Kennedy*, police conducted an investigatory stop of Kennedy who, when approached by police, made a suspicious furtive gesture by reaching under the front seat of the vehicle. Police looked under the seat and found marijuana. This Court upheld the search on two grounds.

First, the Court said the search was permissible under *State v. Stroud*, 106 Wn.2d 144, 720 P.2d 436 (1986), which authorized a search of the

passenger compartment incident to arrest. *Stroud* was later expressly overruled in *Buelna Valdez*, 167 Wn. 2d at 759 (2009). Secondly, the Court said the search was a limited protective sweep under *Terry*. As in *Terry*, the Court limited the search to an area within the detainee's immediate control.

The State's argument that the seizure of defendant's guns from his pickup truck while he was under arrest, handcuffed, and locked inside a police vehicle is authorized by both *Terry* and *Kennedy* fails for several reasons. First, the exception requires that the search be limited to the area within the detainee's immediate control. Here the defendant was clearly not within reaching distance of the weapons which were inside his vehicle while he was locked inside a police vehicle. Second, the State failed to prove the police officer possessed a reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts, which taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warranted the officer in believing the defendant was dangerous and the suspect may gain immediate control of weapons as required by Long. There was no evidence presented that the officer possessed a reasonable belief that the defendant might gain immediate control of the weapons, and no evidence was presented as to how that might occur while the defendant was handcuffed and locked inside the police vehicle. Lastly, the State failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the officer possessed a reasonable belief bases specific and articulable facts

that the defendant was dangerous. The defendant had spent the morning fishing, he was cooperative, neither the defendant or his companion engaged in suspicious conduct or made furtive movements, the event occurred mid-morning. the crime (snagging fish) did not involve the use of a firearm, there was no indication the officer had prior bad experiences with the defendant, there was no evidence of unusually behavior on the part of the defendant, there was no evidence of intoxication, there was no evidence of the area being a high crime area, and there no evidence which would lead a reasonable person to believe either the defendant or his companion were dangerous.

The trial court correctly suppressed the evidence, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court.

D. The State's Argument That a Protective Search is Justified Under Terry and Kennedy Because the Officer Intended to Release the Defendant Fails Because the State Failed to Prove the Defendant Was Dangerous.

The State contends the seizure of the firearms was justified because the officer, although he arrested the defendant, intended to release him after citing him and therefore, the defendant would have access to the firearms. This argument also fails in this case. The State relies on *State v. Larson*, 88 Wn. App. 849, 946 P. 2d. 1212 (1997) and *State v. Chang*, 147

Wn.App 409, 195 P.3d. 1008 (2008). Its reliance is misplaced. Both cases involved situations where the officer had a reasonable belief that the suspect was dangerous. In *Larson*, it was based upon furtive movements and in *Chang* upon suspicion he was involved in a felony inside a bank to which he had driven another suspect and the police had information that he had a gun in the car. Both cases were based on objectively reasonable suspicion the suspects were dangerous and were going to be let back into their vehicles because there was no basis to arrest them,

As previously mentioned, the State in the present case was unable to present any facts justifying an objectively reasonable belief the defendant was dangerous, and as the Court of Appeals pointed out in its decision, the officer himself when questioned by the prosecutor about how he felt at the time of the search agreed "he didn't feel that [Mr. Cruz] was a danger".

State v. Cruz, 195 Wn. App. 120, ___P.3d ___(2016). If the defendant is not dangerous, then there is no justification for the seizure even if the defendant will be allowed to return to his vehicle.

The weakness in the State's argument is that is assumes the search must take place if the detainee is allowed or required to get back into the his vehicle. Conducting a warrantless search is not the government's right; it is an exception - - justified by necessity -- to a rule that would otherwise render the search unlawful. "If 'sensible police procedures' require that

suspects be handcuffed and put in squad cars, then police should handcuff suspects, put them in squad cars, and not conduct the search." If an officer leaves a suspect unrestrained nearby just to manufacture authority to conduct to search, the search may be unreasonable because the dangerous conditions justifying it existed only by virtue of the officer's failure to follow sensible procedures. *Thornton v. United States*, 541 U.S.615, 627, 541 S.Ct. 2127, 158 L.Ed.2d 905 (2004)(Scalia, concurring).

In this case, if the officer's intent was, as he said, to return the firearms to the defendant after citing and releasing him, the officer clearly did not have an objectively reasonable belief that the defendant was dangerous. It would not be sensible to return a dangerous person to a vehicle within which there remained firearms when the officer had the defendant under arrest, handcuffed, and locked inside his patrol vehicle.

E. The Court of Appeals Did Not Establish a New "Recreational Sportsman Rule" as the State Contends.

The State contends the Court of Appeals in its decision created a new rule, the "recreational sportsman rule". This seems to be an exaggeration by the State. The Court of Appeal's decision certainly did not announce it was creating such a rule. The Court did state, "Context matters." A fair reading of the decision would indicate the Court found the mere

possession of a firearm in a nearby vehicle by a sportsman did not support a reasonable belief by police that the person was both dangerous and might gain immediate control of weapons. Any restrictions on an officer's ability to secure weapons during a non-consensual encounter are result legitimate constitutionally mandated constraints on warrantless searches and seizures. The State ignores the prerequisites for such warrantless seizures - reasonable suspicion that a suspect is both dangerous and may gain immediate control of weapons.

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the State's Petition for Review.